2004

# John D. Sorge v. Utah Office of the Attorney General : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**ISSUES**

The issues presented by this case are: 1) Was Grievant dismissed for just cause or for the good of the public service, as provided for in *Utah Code Annotated*, §67-19-18; and 2) If not, what is the appropriate remedy?

## **FINDINGS OF FACT**

1. Grievant has been employed by the state of Utah as an Assistant Attorney General since approximately April 1999. Prior to that, he worked as an attorney in the Box Elder County Attorney's Office.

2. Grievant's duty station was in the Ogden Office of the Agency until he was involuntarily transferred to the Agency's Clearfield Office on July 3, 2002.

3. On or about December 20, 2001, while in the Ogden office, Grievant was placed on a Corrective Action Plan. At all times prior to and since its implementation, Grievant has disputed the allegations on which the Corrective Action Plan was based.

4. Part of the Corrective Action Plan required Grievant to review a video tape concerning sexual harassment in the office, to not make any comments to the support staff of a sexual nature, and to treat the support staff with respect at all times.

5. The Corrective Action Plan was terminated early by management during February 2002.

6. Kirk Torgensen, Chief Deputy Attorney General and, at the time Grievant was placed on the Corrective Action Plan, Acting Chief of the Child Protective Services Division of the Agency, met with Grievant after the Corrective Action Plan was implemented to discuss the Plan and what was expected of Grievant.

7. In the time following the conclusion of the Corrective Action Plan, Mr. Torgensen met with other staff members of the Ogden office. During these visits, Mr. Torgensen became concerned about the negative feelings in the Ogden office which seemed to focus on Grievant.

8. During the same period, Mr. Torgensen met with Grievant and asked him to apologize to the Ogden staff. In other meetings during this period, Mr. Torgensen and Grievant had many discussions about the issues, particularly concerning Grievant's relations with co-workers and Division of Child and Family Services (DCFS) workers.

9. While at a training conference held at the Homestead in Heber Valley during the latter part of May 2002, Mr. Torgensen met with Mark May, Grievant's immediate supervisor, and Mary Noonan, who had become the new Chief of the Child Protection Services Division. They discussed Grievant's relations with his co-workers in the Ogden office, his job performance, and an EEOC complaint filed by one of the Ogden office workers, Lynnette Martinez, against Grievant for sexual harassment.

10. In their discussion, Mr. Torgensen, Mr. May and Ms. Noonan decided to transfer Grievant to the Clearfield office. This decision was motivated in part because they felt it would be satisfactory to Lynette Martinez as part of a settlement with her on her EEOC complaint. They also felt the transfer would be a way of providing Grievant with an opportunity for a “new start.”

11. When Grievant arrived at the Homestead for that day’s session of the conference, Mr. May invited Grievant to join their discussion. Grievant was informed of the decision to transfer him to the Clearfield office. Grievant was very vocal in his opposition to the transfer. Mr. Torgensen told Grievant that the atmosphere was such that Grievant had to be *very* careful to avoid *any* perception of offensive conduct.

12. Grievant was given an “unsuccessful” performance evaluation in June 2002. Grievant disputed the justification for the performance evaluation just as strongly as he did the earlier Corrective Action Plan and the notice of his involuntary transfer to the Clearfield office. However, Grievant stipulated in the Step 5 hearing that the performance evaluation did place him on notice that he was to avoid any comments of an offensive nature to co-workers.

13. On June 27, 2002, a paralegal from the Clearfield office, Jennifer Howell, traveled to Ogden and delivered keys for entrance into the Clearfield office building to Grievant. She also explained about the parking situation at the Clearfield office and answered Grievant’s questions about the commute between Ogden and Clearfield.

14. Upon her return to her office in Clearfield, Ms. Howell sent an email to Grievant’s supervisor, Mr. May, notifying him that she delivered the keys and of Grievant’s response.

15. The lead attorney for the Clearfield office at the time of Grievant’s transfer was Janice Ventura. Ms. Ventura testified that she had no animosity or negative feelings about Grievant at the time of his transfer, and that she had always been able to work well with him when she worked as an attorney for the Office of Guardian ad Litem in the Logan area prior to her joining the AG’s staff, other than one incident in Logan in which Ms. Ventura felt that Grievant had assaulted her by pointing and shaking his finger near her face during a verbal altercation between the two.

16. Another witness, Dianne Balmain, also an attorney for the Office of Guardian ad Litem, had a conversation with Ms. Ventura during a conference at Midway, Utah in May 2002. In this conversation, Ms. Ventura repeated to Ms. Balmain several times, “I can’t stand John,” referring to Grievant.

17. On or about July 18, 2002, Ms. Ventura held a staff meeting in the Clearfield office. The staff consisted of herself, Grievant, Ms. Howell, and a secretary, Lori Trivino. During the course of the meeting, Ms. Ventura mentioned a security incident which had recently occurred at the Bountiful DCFS office. Ms. Ventura noted that two male investigators in the Bountiful office carry concealed hand guns. At this time, Grievant told the others that he, too, had a Concealed Firearms Permit and a “sweet gun,” and that he used hollow-point bullets. Grievant also described the nature of the damage caused by hollow-point bullets.

18. Both Ms. Ventura and Ms. Howell became very alarmed by Grievant’s statements about his gun and bullets, and felt threatened by him by reason of the statements. Ms. Howell became so frightened from that time on that she always went to or from the parking lot in fear of whether Grievant was present or might show up while she was there.

19. The other staff member present at the July 18 meeting, Lori Trivino, felt that while Grievant’s gun comments put her on alert that there might be days when Grievant could bring a loaded gun to the office, she was not apprehensive about it and did not feel it was a threat or a danger.

20. Grievant and counsel for the Agency, Mr. Schwendiman, stipulated that although Grievant had once owned a 9mm pistol, he had in fact sold the handgun prior to becoming employed with the Agency. However, he maintained his Concealed Firearms Permit after he sold the handgun.

21. The Attorney General has filed a lawsuit against the University of Utah challenging its policy prohibiting handguns on campus pursuant to possession of a Concealed Firearms Permit. He also notified the Utah Department of Human Resource Management (DHRM) that he considers its rule prohibiting concealed weapons possession by state employees while on the job to be a violation of State law. Some time after receipt of the Attorney General’s notice, DHRM rescinded the rule.

22. On or about July 23, 2002, Grievant entered Ms. Howell’s office and first asked her what she felt about the venue of a case involving sexual molestation of a minor. The sexual acts occurred in the area of Hurricane, Utah, but the victim was now staying with a relative in the Clearfield area. Grievant then proceeded to read sexually graphic material to Ms. Howell. Ms. Howell made repeated attempts to contact the caseworker by telephone during the conversation, which lasted about 45 minutes, but was unsuccessful. Ms. Howell felt she could not tell Grievant to discontinue reading the material because “he was her boss,” and because “she was afraid of him.”

23. Ms. Howell felt offended and violated by the words that Grievant had read to her. She became sick to her stomach while he was reading the material. After Grievant left her office, she cried. Upon Ms. Ventura's return to the office, Ms. Howell told Ms. Ventura what had happened. The next day was Friday, July 24, a State holiday.

24. After Ms. Howell's return to the office the next week, she made a complaint to Mr. May about the July 23 incident. She later met with Mr. May and Mr. Torgensen to discuss her complaint.

25. Mr. Torgensen, in consultation with Mr. May, decided to have the Division of Investigations conduct an internal investigation into Ms. Howell's complaint about the July 23 incident. Between July 27 and September 9, 2002, the investigators, Jade Pusey and Ross Larsen, interviewed Ms. Howell, Ms. Ventura, Ms. Trivino, Darrel Armstrong and Grievant. At the conclusion of their interviews, Mr. Larsen prepared a written report which was submitted to Mr. Torgensen.

26. During Mr. Larsen's interview with Ms. Howell on August 29, 2002, Ms. Howell reported that on the previous day, August 28, Grievant had made a comment to Ms. Howell which she felt was racist.

27. In the morning of August 28, 2002, Ms. Howell overheard part of a conversation between Grievant and another person in Grievant's office. After the other person left Grievant's office, Ms. Howell went to Grievant's office and asked Grievant what had been said. Grievant said, referring to a case, "In the Hispanic culture 25-year-old men often have sex with 14-year-old girls." Ms. Howell immediately stood up and responded loudly, "That is so wrong. It is not at all true and I am very offended." Grievant replied that it was not his statement; Darryl Armstrong made the statement.

28. After the discussion in Grievant's office on August 28, Ms. Howell returned to her office. Ms. Trivino, who had overheard Ms. Howell's response to Grievant, was concerned and went to Ms. Howell's office. Ms. Howell was visibly very upset by the incident. Ms. Trivino reported Ms. Howell's getting upset to Ms. Ventura as soon as Ms. Ventura returned to the office. Ms. Ventura, Ms. Trivino and Ms. Howell then took a walk to a nearby Conoco station. During the walk, Ms. Howell explained what had happened between her and Grievant that morning. A little while later, Ms. Howell took the rest of the day off.



29. Ms. Ventura reported the incident on that same day to Mr. May, saying, "The situation is getting out of hand with Mr. Sorge, and you need to do something about it right away." Ms. Howell also reported the incident, via email that same day, to Mr. May.

30. Upon receipt of Ms. Howell's email, Mr. May decided to have the August 28 incident rolled into the investigation of the July 23 incident.

31. Mr. Larsen interviewed Grievant on September 4, 2002, as part of the investigation. At the beginning of the interview, Mr. Larsen gave Grievant the Garrity warning. In his interview with Mr. Larsen, Grievant's responses to questions began to develop inconsistencies, and during the course of the interview, Grievant changed his statements of the facts several times. For example, Grievant at first acknowledged that he may have talked with Ms. Howell on July 23 about the venue issue in the case in question that day; later in the interview Grievant could not remember talking to Ms. Howell about the case. At the beginning of the interview, Grievant seemed confused, which is very common in such interviews, but as the interview progressed, Grievant became evasive and demonstrated selective memory.

32. From July 18, 2002, until his interview with Mr. Larsen on September 4, Grievant was never told by Ms. Howell, Ms. Ventura, Mr. May, or anyone else in management that Ms. Howell had made complaints about his conduct.

33. After receiving the investigative report of the July 23 and August 28 incidents, Mr. Torgensen, Ms. Noonan and Mr. May met to discuss it and decide what should be done next.

34. During the discussion, Mr. Torgensen reached the conclusions that Grievant had displayed a pattern of unacceptable conduct; that management felt they could no longer control that conduct; and that any discipline short of termination was not a viable alternative. Therefore, the decision was to recommend to the Attorney General that Grievant's employment with the Agency be terminated. The Notice of Intent to Terminate was thereafter issued on September 27, 2002.

35. Grievant timely appealed the Notice of Intent to Step 4 of the grievance process. The Attorney General assigned another Chief Deputy, Raymond Hintze, to conduct the Step 4 informal hearing. Before holding the hearing, Mr. Hintze conducted his own investigation into the allegations made against Grievant. Grievant was then given an opportunity to be heard on October 10, 2002. Mr. Hintze felt Grievant was unable to recognize the impact his words and actions had on others; that Grievant failed to demonstrate that he was trying sufficiently to alter his conduct; and that the

Agency was too much at risk by reason of Grievant's continuing conduct. Therefore, Mr. Hintze drafted the letter terminating Grievant's employment, which the Attorney General signed on October 17, 2002.

### CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Grievant's appeal from the termination was timely.
2. Grievant received multiple notices as to the conduct which was of concern to Agency management, and knew or should have known that continued conduct causing offense to co-workers and clients could lead to his termination from employment.
3. Grievant's comments regarding his Concealed Firearms Permit, gun possession, and the bullets he preferred to use did not violate a universal standard of conduct such as to justify or support termination.
4. Grievant's comments and actions on July 23, 2002, constituted a violation of Agency office policy 2.11, Sexual Harassment.
5. Grievant's comments and actions on August 28, 2002, caused offense to both a co-worker and, ultimately, to a DCFS worker, in violation of directions and instructions given to Grievant by management.
6. Grievant's comments and actions on July 23, and August 28, 2002, his responses during the investigative interview with him, and his subsequent responses to management caused management to lose confidence and trust in Grievant's ability to comply with Agency policies.

### STANDARDS

The standards for considering the discharge of State employees are: The agency dismissing an employee bears the burden of proof that the dismissal was for just cause. *Utah Code*, §67-19a-406(2)(a), (2002). The evidentiary standard by which the agency must meet its burden of proof is "substantial evidence." *Utah Code*, §67-19a-406(2)(c), (2002). Substantial evidence "is that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion." *Larson Limestone Co. v. State*, 903 P.2d 429,430 (Utah 1995) quoting *First National Bank v. County Bd. of Equalization*, 799 P.2d 1163, 1165 (Utah 1990); see also *Zissi v. State Tax Commission*, 842 P.2d 848,853 (Utah 1992). "It is more than a mere 'scintilla' of evidence and something less than the weight of the evidence." *Johnson v. Board of Review of Indus. Commission*, , 842 P.2d 910,911 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).