2004

John D. Sorge v. Utah Office of the Attorney General : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This issue was considered by the CSRB in its Decision and Final Agency Action.

R. 847-50.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Since this issue raises a question of general law, this Court reviews the “CSRB's conclusion for correctness, granting no deference to that agency's decision.” Holland v. CSRB, 856 P.2d 678, 682 (Utah App. 1993).

4. Sorge was properly precluded from relitigating prior employment decisions.

Sorge was barred by res judicata from seeking to reopen such issues.

This issue was considered by the CSRB in its Decision and Final Agency Action.

R. 842-44.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Since this issue raises a question of general law, this Court reviews the “CSRB's conclusion for correctness, granting no deference to that agency's decision.” Holland v. CSRB, 856 P.2d 678, 682 (Utah App. 1993).

5. Sorge's rights were not violated by the Department's counsel assisting in the preparation of the termination letter and, subsequently, representing the Department before the CSRB for the first time before this Court.

This issue was raised by the petitioner in a single paragraph in his Step 6 Brief. R. 583. The CSRB did not specifically address it.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Since this issue raises a question of general law, this Court reviews the “CSRB's conclusion for correctness, granting no deference to that agency's decision.” Holland v. CSRB, 856 P.2d 678, 682 (Utah App. 1993).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES & RULES

There are no such provisions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 17, 2002, John Sorge was dismissed from his position as an Assistant Attorney General with the State of Utah's Office of the Attorney General (Department). R. 1-3. The termination was based on three incidents that occurred after Sorge had been transferred to the Department's Clearfield office, and the fact that he had been previously put on notice that such further incidents would not be tolerated. R. 1-8. Sorge appealed this decision to the CSRB on October 28, 2002. R. 0.

A Step 5 Hearing on Sorge's grievance was conducted by a CSRB hearing officer on March 31, 2003, April 1-4, 2003, and April 9, 2003. R. 858-64. In his April 23, 2003, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision, the hearing officer found that the facts supported the Department's position as to two of the three incidents that led to Sorge's termination.¹ The Hearing Officer also found that the facts showed Sorge's termination was not excessive, disproportionate or otherwise an abuse of discretion. R. 531-34.

¹ The Hearing Officer found that the facts related to an incident of alleged threatening comments concerning concealed weapons did not support the termination of the petitioner. R. 527-29. Neither the Hearing Officer nor the CSRB considered this incident in upholding the Department's termination decision, so it is not discussed further in this brief.

On May 8, 2003, Sorge filed his notice of appeal to the CSRB from the hearing officer's decision. R. 538-60. After hearing Sorge's appeal (R. 904) the CSRB issued its Decision and Final Agency Action on November 4, 2004. R. 831-55. The board sustained the hearing officer's findings and conclusions and affirmed Sorge's termination.

Sorge's Petition for Judicial Review was filed on December 6, 2004.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Appellant John D. Sorgé was hired in April 1999 as an assistant attorney general in the Ogden office of the Utah Attorney General's Office's Child Protection Division. His direct supervisor was Mark May, Section Chief of the Child Protection Division's Northern Region. Appellant's Brief at 8. On March 10, 2000, Sorge received sexual harassment training and affirmed that he understood the sexual harassment policy of the Utah Attorney General's office. R. 895-896.

During the first two and a half years of his employment in the Ogden office, there arose concerns of Sorge's inappropriate sexual comments and conduct with female Division of Child and Family Services ("DCFS") employees and staff members of the Attorney General's office. In December 2000, May received a telephone call from a child protection services supervisor about concerns she had regarding Sorge and three of her workers. R. 858 at 265. During the first week of January 2001, May and Division Chief Dave Carlson spoke with Sorge about his behavior towards the DCFS employees and

notified him that this was not appropriate and should not happen again. R. 861 at 767, 769-71.

However, in October 2001, a female paralegal who was assigned to work with Sorge complained of his inappropriate and unwelcome sexual comments and behavior towards her. R. 861 at 778; R. 879. Again, Sorge's supervisor and Division Chief spoke with him about the complaint and ultimately put him on corrective action in an attempt to change his behavior. R. 861 at 778-79, 787-90; R. 879-81. In the spring of 2002, Division Chief Mary Noonan, May and Chief Deputy Kirk Torgensen met with Sorge to discuss his performance appraisal which was to be "unsuccessful" for that year, partially as a result of the complaints of his misconduct. R. 860 at 587-90; R. 861 at 800-3. During this meeting, Sorge was again told that the office would not tolerate inappropriate and disrespectful behavior towards other employees. R. 860 at 591-95; R. 862 at 957. When May prepared Sorge's performance evaluation, he attached a copy of the corrective action plan as notice to him of what was expected. R. 861 at 816. At the time of the performance evaluation in mid-June 2002, Sorge was again put on notice that he must not engage in any sexually explicit comments or other such inappropriate behavior. R. 862 at 976. Shortly thereafter, Sorge was transferred to the Clearfield office in an attempt to give him a "fresh start." R. 862 at 959; R. 864 at 1424.

Within three weeks of his arrival at the Clearfield office, Sorge had a discussion with paralegal, Jennifer Howell that she found to be offensive and sexually inappropriate.

On July 23, 2002, Sorge found a new file on his desk that included a DCFS case worker's log containing sexually graphic language relating to the abuse of the child victim. R. 858 at 145-47, 152-56. He took the file to Howell's office where he initially spoke to her about the proper venue and jurisdiction of the case. R. 858 at 227. Sorge then began to read portions of the log out loud to Howell and commented on some of the sexually graphic details. R. 858 at 161-64, 227; R. 860 at 561. Howell had no involvement with the case, was not familiar with the case and was not assigned to do anything on the case. R. 858 at 144; R. 860 at 597; R. 861 at 696.

Howell attempted to call the case worker to answer any questions Sorge had but was unable to contact her during the 45 minutes to an hour that Sorge remained in her office. R. 858 at 145, 166. Howell was offended and upset by this event and felt violated and sick to her stomach. R. 858 at 158, 165, 174, 208, 240, 247. During her employment with the Attorney General's office, Howell had never had an attorney read sexually explicit logs to her. She felt harassed because there was no reason for Sorge to read such material to her. R. 858 at 167.

This meeting affected Howell so much that after Sorge left her office, she shut her door and cried. R. 858 at 169. When Janice Ventura returned from court that afternoon, Howell reported the incident to her. R. 858 at 172, 294-96. Ventura and the office secretary, Lori Trivino, testified that Howell was visibly upset following this incident. R. 858 at 297; R. 860 at 418. Although the Child Protection Division often deals with

sexual abuse cases containing sexually graphic language, it is inappropriate and unnecessary for an attorney to read sexually graphic language to a paralegal or other staff member. R. 858 at 296; R. 860 at 416; R. 862 at 968-69. This incident was so upsetting to Howell that she was given permission to leave the office whenever she and Sorge were alone there together. R. 858 at 175-76; R. 862 at 967.

Ventura reported the incident to May who reported it to his supervisors. R. 862 at 961-62. The administration determined that an investigation into the matter was required and assigned Ross Larsen and Jade Pusey, investigators with the Attorney General's office, to conduct an investigation. R. 860 at 559, 599; R. 862 at 970-71. Sorge denied or stated he did not remember reading the sexually explicit details of the file to Howell. R. 860 at 565-66; R. 861 at 684-85.

The day before the investigators arrived in the Clearfield office to begin their interviews, Sorge made additional comments to Howell that she found to be offensive and sexually and culturally inappropriate. On August 28, 2002, in reference to a case involving a minor Hispanic female who was sexually abused by her stepfather, Sorge stated to Howell that in the Hispanic culture, it was acceptable for younger Hispanic females to have sex with older Hispanic males. R. 858 at 181-84; R. 860 at 563-64; R. 861 at 689-90, 725. Howell took offense to this statement and told Sorge it was untrue. R. 858 at 245. Trivino witnessed Howell's statement. R. 860 at 422-23. Sorge then attributed the statement to Darryl Armstrong, a DCFS caseworker in Bountiful. R. 858 at

184-85; R. 863 at 1353-54, 1369. However, Armstrong testified that Sorge was the one who had commented to him on an earlier occasion at the courthouse in Farmington, that it was acceptable in the Hispanic culture for older Hispanic males to have relationships with younger Hispanic females. R. 860 at 510-11. Armstrong also testified that his wife was Hispanic and that he had told Sorge that although that may be a perception of the Hispanic community, it was not accepted. He never told Sorge that it was common for 25-year-old men to have sex with 14- and 15 year-old girls in the Hispanic community. R. 860 at 512-14, 523, 525.

Howell immediately reported this incident to Ventura. Howell was so upset, that Ventura and Trivino took her for a walk to help calm her down. R. 858 at 186, 312; R. 860 at 426. Later that same afternoon, Howell sent May an email regarding the latest incident with Sorge. R. 858 at 188; R. 861 at 833-34; R. 889. When Noonan was notified of the incident, she requested the investigators to include this incident in their investigation. R. 862 at 971-72.

After the investigators issued their report, May, Noonan and Torgensen met to discuss a course of action. They reviewed the entire history with Sorge and their attempts to put a stop to his inappropriate behavior. They concluded that there was no other alternative but termination. R. 860 at 611-13. Noonan issued Sorge a Notice of Intent to Terminate Employment on September 27, 2002 which outlined the incidents in the Clearfield office as well as Sorge's history of inappropriate behavior with the office as

the reasons for his termination. R. 866-70. Sorge appealed this decision to Attorney General Mark Shurtleff who assigned Chief Deputy Ray Hintze to investigate and handle the appeal. Following Hintze's personal investigation into the matter, he recommended to Shurtleff that Sorge be terminated for the reasons outlined in the Notice of Intent. Shurtleff issued his Decision to Terminate Sorge's employment on October 17, 2002. R. 871-73.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The petitioner failed to name the CSRB as a party to this action. Sorge asks this Court to review the final agency action of the CSRB, but has failed to make the CSRB a party to this judicial proceeding. This Court is without jurisdiction to review the decision of an agency that is not before the Court.

The CSRB, and its Hearing Officer, found that the evidence of record supported the Department's decision to terminate the petitioner. Sorge seeks to challenge the CSRB's findings of fact, but has failed to marshal the evidence that supports the same. For this reason, the CSRB's factual findings should be affirmed.

The Department did not abuse its discretion in terminating the petitioner. The two incidents at the Department's Clearfield office that the CSRB found were sustained by the evidence were sufficient to justify Sorge's termination. This is especially so when the notice given to the petitioner concerning the Department's expectations is considered.

The CSRB correctly refused to permit the petitioner to reopen prior employment matters and seek to relitigate issues that had been previously resolved. Such efforts are barred by res judicata effect.

Petitioner's due process rights were not violated by permitting the Department's counsel to advise his client concerning Sorge's termination and to also represent his client on the same issue before the CSRB.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS THIS PETITION FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION UNDER THE UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT

A lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time by either party or by the court. Weiser v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 932 P.2d 596, 597 (Utah 1997). Absent statutory authority to review the actions of an administrative agency, this Court has no jurisdiction to review the agency action. Dep't of Ertvl. Quality v. Golden Gardens Water Co., 2001 UT App 173, ¶13, 27 P.3d 579. This Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear this petition under the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA").²

UAPA governs judicial review of the CSRB's administrative proceedings. UAPA requires that the CSRB be named as a respondent in the present action. Sorge has not named the CSRB as a respondent. The jurisdictional time limit to bring a petition for

²Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46b-0.5 to -21 (West 2004).

judicial review against the CSRB has now passed. This Court therefore lacks jurisdiction to review the CSRB decision and should summarily dismiss Sorge's petition with prejudice.

This Court has jurisdiction to review "all final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings." Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(1); see also Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a); Lopez v. Career Serv. Review Bd., 834 P.2d 568, 572 (Utah App. 1992). To vest this Court with jurisdiction over a particular proceeding, however, a petitioner must meet the requirements of section 63-46b-14. Subsection 14(3) contains two requirements. First, the petition must be filed "within 30 days after the date that the order constituting final agency action is issued." Section 63-46b-14(3)(a); Viktron/Lika Utah v. Labor Comm'n, 2001 UT App 8, ¶7, 18 P.3d 519 (holding that failure to timely file a petition for judicial review is a jurisdictional defect). Second, the petition "shall name the agency and all other appropriate parties as respondents." Section 63-46b-14(3)(b), (emphasis added).

In the context of this section, "agency" means the agency which entered the order constituting final agency action. The only other use of agency mentioned in the section is "final agency action" and "order constituting final agency action." No mention is made of an agency which might have appeared as a party in the administrative proceeding. Moreover, the reference in subsection 14(3)(b) to parties indicates that they shall be named as respondents in addition to the agency whose decision is being appealed: "the

petition shall name the agency and all other appropriate parties as respondents.”

(Emphasis added.) The conjunctive “and” indicates that the requirement to name parties is separate from the requirement to name the agency. See State v. Maestas, 2002 UT 123, 63 P.3d 621 (concluding that a statute was “written in the conjunctive, thus making clear that it has two separate requirements”). Accordingly, Sorge should have named both the Department and the CSRB as respondents.³

One purpose of the requirement to name the agency as respondent is to obtain jurisdiction over the agency that conducted the adjudicative proceedings to be reviewed. Without such jurisdiction, the reviewing court would be powerless to affirm, reverse, remand, modify, or even vacate the agency action. See Ostler v. Buhler, 1999 UT 99, ¶7, 989 P.2d 1073 (noting that the court lacked jurisdiction to make ruling in favor of nonparty); see also Openshaw v. Openshaw, 12 P.2d 364, 365 (Utah 1932) (holding that “decree in favor of a person who is not a party to the action or proceeding is void because the court has no jurisdiction to make it”). This Court should interpret the term “agency” in subsection 14(3)(b) in a manner that is consistent with its purpose. See In re Kunz, 2004 UT 71, ¶ 8, 99 P.3d 793 (holding court should interpret plain language of statute in light of its purpose).

³See, e.g., Lunnen v. UDOT, 886 P.2d 70, 71 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (identifying as respondents in a petition for judicial review both the CSRB and the agency which appeared before the CSRB as a party); Kent v. CSRB, 860 P.2d 984 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (same); Holland v. CSRB, 856 P.2d 678 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (same); Lopez v. CSRB, 834 P.2d 568 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (same).

To interpret the requirement otherwise would render it meaningless or absurd in many cases. Although one of the parties in this case happens to be an agency, many administrative proceedings involve only private parties.⁴ In such cases, the requirement of naming the agency as a respondent would be meaningless unless it means the agency whose final action is being challenged in the petition. See Hall v. Dep't of Corr., 2001 UT 34, ¶ 15, 24 P.3d 958 (holding court should avoid interpretations that will render portions of a statute superfluous).

Similarly, although the petitioner here happens to be a private party, in other cases the petitioner is an agency.⁵ In such cases, unless the term “agency” refers to the agency whose final action is to be reviewed, subsection 14(3)(b) would require the petitioner to name itself as a respondent. This Court should avoid an interpretation of section 63-46b-14(3) that would lead to such an absurd result. See Sullivan v. Sullivan, 2004 UT App 485, ¶ 9, 515 Utah Adv. Rep. 28 (declining to follow rigid interpretation of statute where doing so would lead to absurd result).

⁴See, e.g., Thomas v. Color Country Mgmt., 2004 UT 12, 84 P.3d 1201 (judicial review of administrative action of Labor Commission, which was named as respondent); Gilley v. Blackstock, 2002 UT App. 414, 61 P.3d 305 (judicial review of administrative action of Department of Public Safety, which was named as respondent); Longley v. Leucadia Fin. Co., 2000 UT 69, 9 P.3d 762 (judicial review of administrative action of state engineer, who was named as respondent).

⁵See, e.g., State v. CSRB, 2004 UT App 171, 92 P.3d 776 (petition for judicial review of CSRB decision filed by Department of Public Safety); Utah Dep't of Corr. v. Despain, 824 P.2d 439 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (same filed by Utah Department of Corrections).

By not naming the CSRB as a respondent, Sorge has thus failed to meet the requirements of UAPA. More precisely, Sorge has failed to bring a petition against the CSRB within thirty days from the date of the CSRB's final decision, as required by section 63-46b-14(3). Sorge has thereby deprived this Court of jurisdiction.

II. THE CSRB DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS FACTUAL SUPPORT FOR THE DEPARTMENT'S DECISION TO TERMINATE THE PETITIONER

The CSRB is required to give deference to the decisions of those agencies who come before it. Utah Dep't of Corr. v. Despain, 824 P.2d 439, 442 (Utah App. 1991) (CSRB required to give deference to the personnel decisions of agencies).

The CSRB's role in examining the Department's personnel actions is a limited one. The CSRB is restricted to determining whether there is factual support for the Department's charges against [a grievant] and, if so, whether the Department's sanction of dismissal is so disproportionate to those charges that it amounts to an abuse of discretion.

Career Serv. Review Bd. v. Utah Dep't of Corr., 942 P.2d 933, 942 (Utah 1997).

Petitioner was terminated for three specific incidents that occurred while he was employed at the Attorney General's Clearfield office. Sorge has challenged both the proportionality of his termination and whether there was factual and legal support for the CSRB's decision that two of the three incidents supporting that termination were supported by the evidence in the record.

Sorge has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the factual findings of the CSRB and cannot challenge those findings. A party challenging the factual findings of the CSRB has a duty to marshal the evidence.

Furthermore, when challenging an agency action as not based upon substantial evidence, appellants have a duty to "marshal all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, the [Board's] findings are not supported by substantial evidence."

Road Runner Oil, Inc. v. Bd. of Oil, Gas and Mining, 2003 UT App 275, ¶10, 76 P.3d 692 (alteration in original); see also Covey v. Covey, 2003 UT App 380, ¶27, 80 P.3d 553 ("In order to successfully challenge the trial court's findings of fact, Almon 'must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding[s] and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding[s] even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below.'") .

Instead of marshaling the evidence supporting the Hearing Officer's findings of fact, and demonstrating that they were not supported by substantial evidence, Sorge relies instead on certain statements of the Hearing Officer taken out of context and the testimony that he believes supports his position. Without marshaling the evidence in support of Hearing Officer's factual findings, the petitioner simply argues that the facts support him and that the CSRB and Hearing Officer should be reversed.

Because Sorge has failed to marshal the evidence that supports the factual findings of the Hearing Officer and the CSRB, those findings should be affirmed.

A. Incident of July 23, 2002.

The Hearing Officer made express findings of fact as to what took place during this incident.

22. On or about July 23, 2002, Grievant entered Ms. Howell's office and first asked her what she felt about the venue of a case involving sexual molestation of a minor. The sexual acts occurred in the area of Hurricane, Utah, but the victim was now staying with a relative in the Clearfield area. Grievant then proceeded to read sexually graphic material to Ms. Howell. Ms. Howell made repeated attempts to contact the caseworker by telephone during the conversation, which lasted about 45 minutes, but was unsuccessful. Ms. Howell felt she could not tell Grievant to discontinue reading the material because "he was her boss," and because "she was afraid of him."

23. Ms. Howell felt offended and violated by the words that Grievant had read to her. She became sick to her stomach while he was reading the material. After Grievant left her office, she cried. Upon Ms. Ventura's return to the office, Ms. Howell told Ms. Ventura what had happened. The next day was Friday, July 24, a State holiday.

R 523-24.

Rather than meet his burden of marshaling the evidence that supports these findings of fact, Sorge instead cites to some of the evidence and claims that the findings are unsupported. Brief of Appellant John D. Sorge at 26-34. Petitioner also relies upon the Hearing Officer's statement that Ms. Howell was not a credible witness. Id. at 35-36; R. 528-29. This statement has been taken out of context. Sorge has failed to include the conclusion that the Hearing Officer reached.

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